A.3-1-93

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT NO. 79,720

FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NUMBER: 90-1214

#### SUMMARY OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IMPROPERLY REWEIGHED THE EVIDENCE AND ERRED IN ITS ANALYSIS OF THE FACTS IN THIS CASE.
- II. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY DETERMINING THAT RE-ZONING DECISIONS ARE NOT LEGISLATIVE ACTS OF LOCAL GOVERNMENTS.
- III. THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY CREATING AN IRRECONCILABLE CONFLICT BETWEEN THE PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS OF FLORIDA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 1.630 AND SECTION 163.3215, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991).
- IV. THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED AND FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THAT EX PARTE DISCUSSIONS OF RE-ZONING APPLICATIONS ARE PERMITTED IN RE-ZONING ACTIONS.
- V. THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED AND FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THAT CONSISTENCY, AS DEFINED BY CHAPTER 163, PART II, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), ALLOWS LOCAL GOVERNMENTS TO TAKE ACTION APPROVING LESS INTENSIVE USES WHERE THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN SETS A MAXIMUM LIMIT ON DENSITY.
- VI. THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY FAILING TO APPLY THE FAIRLY DEBATABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW.
- VII. THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY RULING THAT SPECIFIC FINDINGS OF FACT ARE REQUIRED IN RE-ZONING ACTIONS.
- VIII. THE RULING OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL UNCONSTITUTIONALLY ENCROACHES ON THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT'S AUTHORITY TO ZONE PROPERTY UNDER CHAPTER 125, FLORIDA STATUTES, AND ARTICLE VIII OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before the Supreme Court following the County's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. The Supreme Court accepted jurisdiction September 23, 1992. The proceedings below were as follows.

In November, 1988, the Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County, Florida, denied a request by Snyder for re-zoning (R-14). Snyder filed two separate actions, but ultimately chose to pursue the appeal of the re-zoning decision by Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit Court (R-15, 16, 17). A three-judge panel of the circuit court heard the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. The circuit court denied the Petition for Writ of Certiorari (R-16, Thereafter, Snyder filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the Fifth 17). District Court of Appeal. Exhibit "A" of the Petition was stricken (R-107, 108). The Fifth District Court of Appeal granted the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and remanded the case to the circuit court. The County filed a Motion for Rehearing, Motion for Rehearing En Banc and Motion for Certification of Issues to the Florida Supreme Court. These motions were denied by the Fifth District Court of Appeal on March 20, 1992. Subsequently, the County timely filed the Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this court and jurisdiction was accepted.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case arose from the denial of a re-zoning request on Merritt Island in Brevard County, Florida. The one-half (1/2) acre tract in question is zoned GU (general use) and is located on a substandard, twenty-foot wide, dead end road. The area is designated under the 1988 Brevard County Comprehensive Plan (comprehensive plan) Future Land Use Map for residential use (R-45, Exhibit F of Notice of Filing Record, page 2 of re-zoning review worksheet). Twenty-nine zoning classifications are considered to have the potential to be consistent with this land use designation (R-32), including GU which allows construction of a single family residence. Respondents filed a re-zoning request for multi-family zoning, under the RU-2-15 zoning classification. RU-2-15 zoning allows fifteen units per acre pursuant to Section 12(F)(3)(b), Appendix C-Zoning, Code of Brevard County, Florida (R-44).

In this case, pursuant to the comprehensive plan, density on Appellee's property was capped at twelve units per acre under the urbanizing density guidelines (also called service sector designation) (R-45). The Brevard County Comprehensive Plan, Future Land Use Element Policy 1.7, provides that density guideline boundaries may be extended a distance of six hundred sixty feet (R-106). In this case, since the property was within six hundred sixty feet of an urban district which provides a density of thirty units per acre, the Board of County Commissioners had a choice whether or not to extend the urban district and encompass Respondents' lots so as to increase the allowable density. This issue is discussed in the re-zoning review worksheet (R-45).

The comprehensive plan also sets policies on development in floodplains. In reviewing the environmental aspects of Respondents' property, the staff found the request was not consistent with the development regulations for property within the 25-100-year Floodplain (R-76). One hundred per cent of the parcel is located within

the 25-100-year Floodplain (R-76) where maximum residential density is limited to two density units per acre by the comprehensive plan (R-48, 76). This restriction is in Policy 4.2 of the Conservation Element of the Brevard County Comprehensive Plan in effect in November, 1988 (R-97-99). Pursuant to Policy 1.6 of the Future Land Use Element, the more restrictive provisions of Policy 4.2 of the Conservation Element control over the density provisions of the Future Land Use Element (R-105, 106). In addition to the staff comments, the record reflects a map was provided to the County Commissioners which indicated the location of floodplains based on the water's edge and wetlands areas. Respondents' property was shaded and circled on the map (R-52) which revealed the property was in the 100-year Floodplain. Further, the record reflects that the staff also used a copy of the Federal Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) to determine the location of the 100-year Floodplain in relation to Respondents' property (R-96 [three pages are marked 96], 97-99). The subject property was highlighted at R-96 in the heavily shaded area which designates 100year floodplains (R-96). The map indicates the base elevation for the zone where Respondents' property is located is four feet. (Base elevation is defined by the Brevard County Code, Chapter 14, as the crest elevation in relation to the mean sea level expected to be reached during a base flood (R-93).) No evidence was provided by the Respondents indicating the elevation on the subject property was above four feet.

The zoning director indicated that a topographical survey had been submitted by the Respondents showing the property elevation was at 3.9 feet and the director made a statement disregarding the floodplain issue (R-10). The only topographical survey in the record was presented by Respondent (R-70). However, that survey is not of the parcel of land in question in this lawsuit. Reflected in that survey are parcels 81, 82 and the southern portion of lot 83, of the Plat of North Banana River Park (R-70). The Petition for Writ of Certiorari and the re-zoning action addressed the northern portion of lot 83, 84 and 85, of the Plat of North Banana River Park, as recorded in Plat Book 4, Page 35 of the Public Records of Brevard County, Florida (R-44, 72). The topographical survey presented by Respondent depicted the wrong property. Further, even if that survey covered the lots in question, the survey indicates that the lots described were located within the flood zone A-4, with a base flood elevation on the map of four feet (R-95). The survey reflects an average elevation of 3.9 feet which does not take the property outside, or above, the floodplain.

The technical evidence in the record relied upon by the Commission and circuit court reflects the subject property was in the 25-100-year Floodplain. The portion of the record filed by Respondents and noted as being the documents submitted to each County Commissioner, shows the property in the 25-100-year Floodplain (R-76, Exhibit G). Contrary to Respondents' contentions before the circuit court (R-74-76), the staff comments have not been altered. The allegedly "amended" staff comments are attached to Respondents' petition and that entire document has been altered by Respondents for exhibit purposes (R-11).

At the public hearing before the Planning and Zoning Board on November 7, 1988, and before the Board of County Commissioners on November 28, 1988, adjacent property owners spoke against the requested re-zoning. The citizens expressed concerns about traffic and stated that they did not wish to have multi-family zoning in the area. The residents described the character of the neighborhood as single family residential (R-8-14) and indicated multi-family zoning would be incompatible. Multiple petitions protesting the re-zoning were presented (R-43, 62, 63, 64 and 65). The Board of County Commissioners reviewed all of the evidence before it, including staff report maps, petitions, comments, minutes, land development

regulations and comprehensive plan policies, amounting to approximately sixty-five pages of information. Based on all the evidence, the Commission denied the requested re-zoning.

Respondents filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the circuit court. The court denied the petition (R-116, 117) and found:

Included on the record of appeal are Exhibits "F" and "G" attached to Petitioners "Notice of Filing of Record" dated September 19, 1989. Petitioner asserts these exhibits compose the entire record Respondent had before it in making its decision. Exhibit G clearly states that the entire parcel is in the 25 to 100 year floodplain and that maximum residential density in that floodplain is two (2) dwelling units per acre.

In addition to the above, there was competent, substantial evidence before the Board, from those who would be affected, to support the Board's decision.

Thereafter, Respondents filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Fifth District granted the petition and ruled that re-zoning decisions by local governments do not constitute legislative actions. Following that initial determination, the court ruled that the fairly debatable standard does not apply in reviewing re-zoning actions and that the burden of proof is on the local government to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a specifically stated public necessity requires denial of the re-zoning request.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### Background

In 1926, the United States Supreme Court upheld zoning as a proper legislative exercise of the police power. *Village of Euclid v. Ambler Realty*, 272 U.S. 365, 47 S.Ct. 114, 71 L.Ed. 303 (1926). The court also held zoning decisions should be reviewed by the fairly debatable standard. In 1975, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning Act (LGCPA) was adopted in the State of Florida. § 163.3161, Fla. Stat. (1975). Under the LGCPA, after adoption of a comprehensive plan, all subsequent actions approving development were required to be consistent with the comprehensive plan. § 163.3194, Fla. Stat. (1975). In 1985, Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, was amended. § 163.3167, Fla. Stat. (1991). The consistency requirement remained in place. § 163.3194, Fla. Stat. (1985).

Under the statutory framework, comprehensive planning and zoning are separate functions. *Machado v. Musgrove*, 519 So.2d 629 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), *rev. den.* 529 So.2d 694 (Fla. 1988). The comprehensive plan provides guidelines regarding land use and addresses infrastructure concerns such as roads, sewers, water, parks and drainage. Land development regulations including zoning ordinances refine, restrict or control land use in a particular area and must be consistent with the guidelines set out in the comprehensive plan. § 163.3194, Fla. Stat.; § 163.3164(6) and (7), Fla. Stat.

The following example explains how the process operates. A comprehensive plan designates a particular area for residential use. Additionally, the plan might designate a specific density for the area or indicate a permissible density range such as zero to twelve units per acre. *See*, Section 163.3177(6)(a), Florida Statutes (1991). In some comprehensive plans, the local government reserves the right to consider the appropriate number of units per acre within that range at the

time the re-zoning request is considered. Under this scenario, several distinct zoning classifications may initially appear consistent with the comprehensive plan because they fall within the applicable range of densities. At the time of the public hearing on the re-zoning request, the legislators or Commissioners are able to review detailed information and commentary regarding compatibility issues; thereafter, the Commissioners make a decision as to which zoning classification should be approved for the benefit of the property owner and surrounding properties.

Thus, the planning and zoning process historically functioned with two levels of legislation. The first level is the comprehensive plan and second level is the zoning ordinance. This two-step procedure has been essentially the same since adoption of the 1975 LGCPA. Under the 1975 Act, which contained a consistency requirement, the legislative status of re-zoning actions remained intact. Nothing in the 1985 Act changed the legislative status of re-zonings.

Nonetheless, in the opinion below, the Fifth District Court of Appeal, in conflict with earlier rulings of this court, enunciated a drastic change in the law and held that re-zoning decisions by local governments are not legislative actions, but are quasi-judicial, administrative or executive actions. In addition, the court ruled that the fairly debatable standard does not apply when courts review re-zoning actions. Further, the burden of proof on review was shifted to the local government to prove by "clear and convincing evidence that a specifically stated public necessity requires a specified, more restrictive, use".

The Fifth District Court of Appeal stated that the reason for the change was the adoption in 1985 of Chapter 163, Part II, Florida Statutes, and that chapter's requirement that local governments adopt a comprehensive plan. According to the Fifth District Court of Appeal since all zoning actions must be consistent with the comprehensive plan, re-zonings merely apply existing policy (as contained in the

comprehensive plan) to a specific individual or parcel. The court also reasoned that re-zonings apply policies to small parcels of land and, therefore, re-zoning decisions are quasi-judicial, rather than legislative actions.

#### Argument

The County argues the legislative nature of re-zonings has been established since the 1926 United States Supreme Court decision in Euclid. The legislative status of re-zoning has repeatedly been upheld by the Florida Supreme Court and every District Court of Appeal before and after the adoption of Chapter 163, Part Chapter 163, Part II, Florida Statutes, merely provides an additional or II. broader level of long-range planning or review; it does not eliminate the legislative zoning process. The comprehensive plan provides a framework and guide, but many policy decisions remain to be made within the parameters of the comprehensive plan. Zoning remains a legislative act for the following reasons: (1) Zoning may be subject to referendum. Only legislative actions may be subject to referendum. (2) The nature of a request for re-zoning is a request for a change in the law applicable to a parcel of land. Changing rules or regulations for development is a legislative act, not a quasi-judicial act. (3) Contrary to the court's ruling, the size of the parcel should not determine whether the action is legislative or quasi-judicial. (4) Compatibility issues considered in zoning and re-zoning actions are traditionally viewed as legislative decisions.

Aside from the nature of the act described above, the Florida Statutes indicate that re-zoning is a legislative act. First, Chapter 125 requires a public hearing on re-zoning actions. In order to have viable public input to the land use, zoning, and planning processes, the Commission must be allowed to respond to the concerns raised at the public hearing. The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision eliminates the government's ability to operate in a legislative context and

impairs the ability to respond to public comment by mandating results in re-zoning hearings. Second, the determination that re-zoning decisions are not legislative indicates that a petition for certiorari may be the only proper method of review of such a decision. This result conflicts with the requirements of Section 163.3215, Florida Statutes (1991), which include filing a complaint with the local government. The procedural requirements of Section 163.3215, Florida Statutes, cannot be met in the context of filing a petition for certiorari. Therefore, the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion deprives property owners of a right to appeal. The Legislature, in drafting and creating the statutory framework of Chapter 163, clearly considered re-zoning legislative in nature; otherwise, the statutory framework for appeal does not function.

Another area requiring review is the consistency requirement of Chapter 163, Part II. Chapter 163 requires that zoning be "consistent" with the comprehensive plan. The Fifth District Court of Appeal erroneously applied a definition of consistency which requires the zoning action to be identical to the maximum densities allowed by the comprehensive plan. This ruling ignores the definition of "consistency" and the provisions of other sections of the 1988 Brevard County Comprehensive Plan and impairs the flexibility intended for comprehensive plans under Chapter 163. If a comprehensive plan merely sets a cap on density, all zoning classifications with densities below the cap should be considered consistent. Otherwise, the density anticipated for the future will be approved today, prior to construction of necessary infrastructure and in disregard of compatibility issues and more restrictive policies elsewhere in the comprehensive plan. This result is contrary to the goals of comprehensive planning.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal also created a new standard of review for reviewing re-zoning decisions. This new standard, close judicial review, is not

required by statute and is in conflict with numerous decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and other District Courts of Appeal. The Fifth District Court of Appeal's rigid consistency definition, combined with the standard of close judicial review, has a practical result of mandating results in re-zoning hearings. This result was not contemplated by Chapter 163 or the comprehensive plan and is a de facto removal of zoning authority from local governments. This approach appears to be in conflict with the Florida Constitution because it encroaches on the County's home rule power.

Finally, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reweighed or ignored the evidence and made findings of fact. The circuit court specifically found there was evidence in the record indicating the property was in the 25-100-year Floodplain and, therefore, under the comprehensive plan, density was limited to two units per acre. The District Court ignored this evidence and the circuit court's findings; the District Court of Appeal made its own findings of fact which is improper in the context of a petition for writ of certiorari.

In conclusion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal overlooked the facts in this case and the provisions of the 1988 Brevard County Comprehensive Plan. The Fifth District Court of Appeal has misconstrued the intent of Chapter 163, Part II, and removed the inherent right of local governments to zone property under Chapter 125, Florida Statutes, and the Florida Constitution.

#### BRIEF ON THE MERITS

# I. THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IMPROPERLY REWEIGHED THE EVIDENCE AND ERRED IN ITS ANALYSIS OF THE FACTS IN THIS CASE.

Courts are not permitted to reweigh evidence on review of a petition for certiorari. In *St. Johns County v. Owings*, 554 So.2d 535 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), *rev. den.* 564 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1990), the court summarized the law as follows:

As recently emphasized by the Florida Supreme Court in Education Development Center, Inc. v. City of West Palm Beach Zoning Board of Appeals, 541 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1989), a district court of appeal plays a very limited role in reviewing a circuit court's action in a zoning dispute such as this. Only the circuit court can review whether the judgment of the zoning authority is supported by competent substantial evidence. . .a district court of appeal may not quash a circuit court's decision because it disagrees with the circuit court's evaluation of the evidence.

Owings, 554 So.2d at 537.

. .

Here, the district court disagreed with the circuit court's evaluation of the evidence and finding that "Exhibit G clearly states the entire parcel is in the 25-100-year floodplain and that the maximum residential density is two (2) dwelling units per acre" (R-107). The district court improperly reweighed the evidence to find the subject property was outside the 25-100-year Floodplain.

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