31-93

047

IN THE SUPREME COURT

124 FILEI

NOV 10 1992

OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT NO. 79,720 By-

FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NUMBER: 90-1214

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

JACK R. SNYDER and GAIL K. SNYDER, his wife,

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM
THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CIANFROGNA, TELFER & REDA & FAHERTY, P.A. 815 S. Washington Avenue Post Office Drawer 6310-G Titusville, FL 32782-6515 (407) 269-6833

By: Frank J. Griffith, Jr., Esquire Florida Bar No.: 151350 Attorney for Respondents

##

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

The <u>Snyder</u> decision does not change or affect the public hearing requirements of Chapter 125, but in fact makes the public

hearing process all that more important. The functional test of <u>Snyder</u> announced by the Fifth District Court of Appeal should not be confusing to landowners or to local governments. It is simply a test to determine what type of decision the local government is being asked to make.

The Petitioner raises a concern about a possible conflict between the right to review a decision by petition for certiorari with the procedural provisions of Section 163.3215, Fla. Stat. That issue was never raised by either party, or either the Circuit Court, or District Court of Appeal in making the decision. On a review of the decision of the District Court of Appeal in Snyder, the Supreme Court does not have before it the issue of conflict between those two remedies.

Another issue which the Petitioner would like the Court to address is the issue concerning exparte communications and whether there is a prohibition from such communications because of the holding in Jennings v. Dade County, 589 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). Once again, that "issue" was not before the Board of County Commissioners during the decision-making process; it was not raised as an issue by either party before the Circuit Court of Brevard County, Florida; and its was not raised by either party in their briefs to the District Court of Appeal; and such an issue was not addressed by the Appellate panel in the Snyder decision. This matter is before the Supreme Court on a review of the Snyder decision and holdings and the question of exparte communications is not part of the Snyder decision.

Essentially the Snyder Court states that where a landowner applies for a certain use on his property, then that landowner has the initial burden to show that what he is requesting meets the basis requirements imposed by the local government on his He must show that his request is consistent and property. compatible with the comprehensive plan of the local government. In Snyder, the County's own documents show that Mr. and Mrs. Snyder's request for rezoning on their property was consistent and compatible with the requirements of the County's land use plan. Then the Snyder Court holds that if that landowner meets that initial burden, then the burden should shift to the local government so that if the local government wants or decides to deny the request, it must prove by clear and convincing evidence that there is a specific public necessity to turn down the rezoning request and hold the property to a more restrictive use than requested by the landowner.

That shifting of the burden to the government makes sense. First of all, the government has used its legislative power to enact regulations which apply to different zoning categories. The government has adopted a comprehensive land use planning map which shows people like Mr. Snyder what zonings would be appropriate in this area. Then when the landowner, relying on the legislative acts of the government, applies for a use that is consistent with the legislated determinations of the local government, he should receive the rezoning requested or substantially receive the rezoning requested, if he can show his property in fact meets the

criteria already legislated by the government. If the government decides to deny that person's request, it should have an awful good reason to do so. That shifting of the burden of proof is correct and should be upheld by this Court.

The <u>Snyder</u> Court used a test for reviewing quasi-judicial decisions. The <u>Snyder</u> Court found that the proper test is "close judicial scrutiny". Several appellate courts in this state have found that a strict judicial scrutiny test is appropriate in reviewing decisions such as this one.

Snyder does not do away with the fairly debateable rule. That deferential standard is applicable to legislative decisions of the government. For instance, if the adoption of the government's comprehensive land use plan is fairly debatable it should be upheld. However, where the process is a quasi-judicial process as it was in Snyder, then the reviewing Court should take a harder look at that decision-making process in order to protect a landowner from being turned down for political reasons or for no other land use related reason. That test has recently been favorably looked upon by the Third District Court of Appeal in the case of Gabrielle Nash-Tessler v. City of North Bay Village, Florida, (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) Case No: 91-2615, Opinion filed 10-13-92. Simply put, where the decision is found to be legislative in nature, the fairly debatable still applies. Where the process is found to be one of quasi-judicial nature, the close/strict scrutiny rule should apply.

The <u>Snyder</u> Court also found and held that a proper record is important in order for judicial review. In this particular case, the County made no findings of fact when it turned down the Snyder rezoning request. The <u>Snyder</u> Court states that where government turns down a request that presumptively has met the legislated requirements for the property, that decision is subject to close judicial scrutiny and the government needs to make specific findings of fact and reasons for its decision. Then the Court can determine whether the denial or the abridgment of the landowner's right to use his property was proper.

In conclusion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal has made proper holdings for both the landowner and the government when reviewing decisions of a local government for a rezoning or similar request as is found in <u>Snyder</u>.

#### BRIEF ON THE MERITS

1. THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT APPLIED INCORRECT PRINCIPALS OF LAW TO THE FACTS AND EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE.

The District Court of Appeal in <u>Snyder v. Board of County Commissioners</u>, 595 So.2d 65 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), clearly states the law on its limits of review. The Court specifically stated at page 68:

"The scope of our review is limited to a determination as to whether the circuit court afforded the landowners procedural due process and applied the correct law."

The footnote essentially lists the cases cited by the Petitioners, i.e. City of Deerfield Beach v. Vaillant, 419 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1982); Education Development Center, Inc. v. City of West Palm Beach Zoning Board of Appeals, 541 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1989). See also Combs v. State, 436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983). Additionally in the case cited by Petitioner, St. Johns County v. Owings, 554 So.2d 535 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), rev. denied, 564 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1990), the Court found that the Circuit Court in that case had applied the correct law as it relates to administrative res judicata, as well as, the law that a zoning change must comply with the Florida Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Regulation Act. The Court specifically stated at page 537:

"Again, the circuit court's weighing of the evidence is not subject to review by this court, as long as the correct standard of law has been applied."

The Fifth District Court of Appeal in its <u>Snyder</u> opinion clearly found that the correct standard of law had not been applied by the Brevard County Circuit Court.

The recent case of <u>Education Development Center</u>, <u>supra</u>, at page 108, set forth the standard for District Court review of the Circuit Court's review of a decision. The Supreme Court reaffirmed its position set forth earlier in <u>City of Deerfield Beach</u>, <u>supra</u>, and found the standard for the District Court has only two discrete components:

"The district court, upon review of the circuit court's judgment, then determines whether the circuit court afforded procedural due process and applied the correct law".

The important distinction is that the Appellate Court in Snyder found that the Circuit Court did not apply the correct law in several facets of the case.

The Appellate Court in <u>Snyder</u> did not reweigh the evidence, nor did it err in its analysis of the facts in the case. The Court simply reviewed the entire record on appeal and found that the Circuit Court failed to apply the correct law. The Fifth District Court of Appeal then set forth in its opinion the correct law to be utilized in a rezoning case with facts similar to the facts in <u>Snyder</u>.

Petitioner claims there was an inaccurate or incorrect survey in the County Zoning File. The Fifth District Court of Appeal did not rely on a survey of land south of the Snyder property. The Snyder property was clearly and accurately described in its

application for rezoning (A-7), and the survey of the Snyder property was a part of the zoning file (A-68) as indicated by the affidavit of the Planning and Zoning Director, George Edwards, who certified to the Circuit Court what documents were in the file (A-30-31). Specifically A-68 is a survey of the Snyder property, i.e., lots 84 and 85, and the north one-half (1/2) of lot 83. There is nothing in the Snyder opinion which indicates, or even could indicate, that the Fifth District Court of Appeal "relied on a survey of land to the south which did not include any of the subject property". Petitioner submits that "based on that error" the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal should be reversed! There was no reliance on a wrong survey by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, and the opinion does not even mention a survey.

In the recitation of the facts of the case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal gave a summary of the facts that were in the record at the Circuit Court level and stated at page 67:

"One member of the P&Z D Board asked about the flood plain problem. In response, the minutes of the hearing show that a Mr Edwards, representing the P&Z D staff, stated that the landowners had submitted a topographical map showing the elevation of the subject property was such that it was 'within the purview of taking it out of the 100 year Flood Plain at the time of development.' The Planning and Zoning Board recommended approval of the zoning change."

In the recitation of the facts by the Fifth District Court of Appeal (Page 66,67 and 68), the word "survey" is not in the recitation of the case. How the Petitioner could state that the

Fifth District Court of Appeal "relied on a survey of land to the south which did not include any part of the subject property..." is a mystery. The Petitioner has made a unfounded assumption that the Appellate Court reviewed some incorrect survey. There is absolutely no basis to make such an assumption from the written opinion of the Appellate Court. There is no indication any where in the opinion that the Appellate Court reviewed any survey. It is clear from the above quote concerning Mr. Edward's statements, that the Appellate Court reviewed a certified copy of the minutes of the Planning and Zoning Board Meeting of November 7, 1988 (A-8-10).

The final point to the Petitioner's first argument is to argue that multi-family zoning in proximity to a single family residential neighborhood is incompatible. Petitioner cites the case of Gautier v. Town of Jupiter Island, 142 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962), and several other cases, all of which predate the Florida Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Regulation Act adopted in 1985. That act clearly mandates that a rezoning change must be consistent with the local government's adopted comprehensive plan, Section 163.3194, Fla. Stat. In Snyder, the adopted Brevard County Comprehensive Plan covering the Snyder property indicated that medium density residential use was an acceptable use on the Comprehensive Plan. A major aspect of the Appellate Court decision is to hold that where a landowner, such as Snyder, applies for a rezoning that is consistent with the local government's adopted land use plan, then the presumption is for

granting the requested rezoning unless the local government can show that a more restrictive zoning classification is necessary to protect the health, safety, morals or welfare of the general public.

For the Petitioner to conclude that the Circuit Court and the County found the rezoning request was not appropriate for the area is not accurate. In fact, the Commission made no findings of fact. The Circuit Court in its April 1990 Order, made no statements concerning whether the multi-family zoning was appropriate for the area or not. The Circuit Court Order discussed one exhibit, which was later amended by the staff prior to it getting to the county commission meeting, which initially showed that the property was within the flood plain. The Circuit Court decision has nothing to do with the appropriateness or inappropriateness of multi-family zoning near single family residential zoning. The "findings" of the Commission and the trial court are nonexistent as they concern the appropriateness or inappropriateness of multi-family zoning near a single family residential neighborhood.

Petitioner argues the comprehensive plan limited density on the subject property to twelve (12) units per acre. That is not accurate because the County's own staff documents showed (A-37) that Snyder could potentially have eight (8) units on the site. In the handwriting of a County staff member, (A-39) the County recognized that there is a six hundred sixty foot (660') rule which would allow an extension of the urban service sector. All the Fifth District Court of Appeal did in its summation of the case was

simply to recite what the pertinent documents in the record showed on their face.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL LOGICALLY AND CORRECTLY FOUND THAT A REZONING DECISION WHERE THE FACTS ARE SIMILAR TO THE SNYDER FACTS, IS A QUASI-JUDICIAL DECISION AND NOT A LEGISLATIVE ACT OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT.

The <u>Snyder</u> Court made a detailed and logical analysis of whether the decision of the County to deny the Snyder zoning request was a legislative act. The Court's analysis begins on Page 68 of the decision and continues through page 76. The Court outlined the importance of that issue by stating at page 68:

"The essential issue in this case is whether the decision by the County Commissioners to deny the landowners' rezoning request in this instance was a legislative act to which, under constitutional separation of doctrine, the judiciary must give a deferential standard of review and uphold if 'fairly debatable'. Proper resolution of this issue necessarily implicates constitutional considerations relating to private property rights, separation of powers and the powers and duties of the respective branches of government."

A review of the relevant Supreme Court decisions on this question starts with a review of Schauer v. City of Miami Beach, 112 So.2d. 838 (Fla. 1959). Essentially that case concerned whether or not a court, or the judiciary, could investigate or review the motive of an individual councilman or legislator when voting on legislation. In that case, the City of Miami Beach had adopted an amendatory ordinance:

"....to effect a change in the zoning of a large area so that it would not be restricted to use as sites for private residences but

could be used as locations for multiple-family buildings and hotels." (Schauer at 839)

It is unclear from the facts in the decision exactly what was being acted upon, however, there is no indication that it was a rezoning request by a particular individual for a particular use on a particular piece of property. Granted the land use language has changed since this decision over thirty (30) years ago, however, it appears from the quoted passage above that the City was amending its Land Use Plan or amending its Zoning Map over a "large area" to change either the Land Use Plan or Zoning Map from only allowing "private residences" (single-family residences?) to allow multi-family buildings (apartments, townhouses, condominiums) and hotels. The Court stated that the passage of the original zoning ordinance which may have adopted a Land Use Plan or a Zoning Map for the City, was a legislative function and therefore the amendatory ordinance amending that original zoning ordinance was a large scale amendment to the Zoning Map or Land Use Plan, and the Court held that was an exercise of a legislative function. Snyder decision does not conflict with Schauer based on those The <u>Snyder</u> Court agrees that: facts.

".... enactments of original general comprehensive zoning and planing ordinances and maps, and amendments thereto of broad general application, constitute legislative action establishing rules of law of general application." (Snyder at page 80)

It appears from the language in the <u>Schauer</u> decision that the city had enacted an amendment of broad general application and

therefore the <u>Snyder</u> decision does not conflict with <u>Schauer</u> in declaring that that type of action is legislative.

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